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Counterpart International | Senegal USDA McGovern-Dole Food for Education 

Mid-term Evaluation RFP| Questions and Answers 

Update #4 | As of February 22, 2021 

Questions have been edited for clarity and brevity. Q&A period closed on February 17th.  

Proposals are due on Wednesday, February 24, 2021 

Question #1: We are very concerned about the timeline, which provides just 2 weeks for 

evaluation design, including development of instruments and, more importantly, allots less than 

one month to train enumerators, conduct a pilot test, and complete data collection in 270 schools. 

Given our extensive experience conducting similar data collections in Senegal and other 

countries, and our more recent experience with data collections during the pandemic, we do not 

believe this is a realistic timeline. Would Counterpart International consider extending the 

timeline to adjust for realities on the ground, as well as Ramadan which begins on April 12 and 

ends on May 12? We would appreciate receiving a quick response to this question (hopefully 

within the next week), since our decision on whether or not to bid depends on an adjustment to 

the timeline that takes into consideration the realities on the ground. 

Answer #1: We realize that the calendar is tight for this assessment given the need to complete 

the field work by Ramadan (around April 12). Even though Counterpart-Senegal recently 

completed a survey which covered all 270 schools within a 2-week period during the COVID-19 

pandemic, we have open to reduce the sample size from 270 to 135 (plus a number of 

comparison schools TBD.) Bidders should propose a sampling method for the 135 targeted 

schools. Final sampling methodology is subject to approval. 

We have revised the calendar below. The only hard date is the April 13/14 deadline for data 

collection. (Because Ramadan is a lunar ceremony, the exact date may change.) Nonetheless, if 

data collection takes place during the first few days of Ramadan, this will not be a problem, 

especially in urban areas such as St. Louis or Dakar. Counterpart will remain flexible on the 

number of days for each of the following tasks: the workplan, tool testing, and data collector 

training.  

The evaluation workplan should be submitted in steps starting with the methodology and 

sampling strategy, followed by the evaluation schedule, and finally the draft collection tools. 

This will allow for progressively finalizing all the documents instead of having to review 

everything at once.  

Task    Deadline    

Selection of consultant/firm and signing of contract    March 4    

Submission of midterm Evaluation Workplan: 

Literature review, evaluation design including data 

collection and analysis methodology; draft sampling 

March 16  
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strategy, and intended respondents /key informants; 

quality assurance plan; Draft Evaluation Schedule; and 

Draft Data Collection Tools   

Finalize data collection tools and evaluation schedule 

and approved by Counterpart    
No later than March 18  

Field work: testing data collection tools, calibration, 

and training of data collectors in St. Louis   
March 17 to March 24   

Field Work: data collection   March 25 to April 13/14    

Data analysis   April 15 to April 21    

Debriefing and preliminary findings at CPI Field 

Office (HQ to participate virtually)   
April 19   

Submission of the first draft report     May 3   

Review and comment of first draft (and subsequent 

drafts as necessary) by Counterpart International, 

followed by review and comments by USDA    

May 4 – May 18   

Submission of final report, datasets, and tools    May 24, 2021 

 

Question #2:  To provide you with the best proposal we would like to have access to the 

baseline report, are you able to share it with us? 

Answer #2: Yes, the baseline is publicly available on the USAID DEC 

https://dec.usaid.gov/dec/search/FusionSearchResults.aspx?q=McGovern-Dole 

Question #3: Based on our experience of MGD evaluations, we usually need: 

• 2 weeks to prepare the evaluation workplan and design the instruments 

• 1 week for instrument pilot and programming of the tools and schedule the data 

collection in COUNTRY 

• 1 week of training (instruments need to be finalized before the training) 

• 2 weeks of data collection is the minimum: there are over 200 schools, so to do it in 7 

days, we need to visit 30 schools per day, which seems like a lot. 

 

That is 6 weeks from the data of the contract but there are only 4 weeks, so maybe I am missing 

something?  Can a team do 2 or more schools per day? How many enumerators per team did you 

have at baseline? How spread are the schools? 

Answer #3: Counterpart has recently completed (Nov/Dec 2020) two assessments (using local 

consulting firms) that covered all 270 schools with 8 data collectors (local hires) in two weeks. 

These assessments were less complex. We believe that with a team of 8-10 local data collectors, 

all the data collection for this mid-term assessment can be done in the 135 targeted schools as 

well as interviews in the regional capital (St. Louis), Dakar, and in selected communes (Mayors’ 

offices + 4 district officials.) The schools are spread out in some zones but travel in the dry 

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdec.usaid.gov%2Fdec%2Fsearch%2FFusionSearchResults.aspx%3Fq%3DMcGovern-Dole&data=04%7C01%7Cmgd.senegal%40counterpart.org%7C042f5f4b683e4f9007d408d8c4b1b4db%7C17a4af2e90f74644855f497feb09b996%7C0%7C0%7C637475614824313703%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=pYKFAs2osecI%2BWaWODhsoPpvHbCIEZMvSFZRsjXCKhM%3D&reserved=0
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season is not a problem and schools can be strategically grouped together for efficiency. Please 

see the revised calendar above. There are now 6 weeks from the date of the contract to the end of 

the data collection period, and the number of schools has been reduced.    

Question #4: We noticed some discrepancy in the workplan, could you please clarify? (See 

below screen shots) 

Dates in the narrative 

 

Dates in the table 

 

Answer #4:  Please see the revised calendar under Answer #1. 

Question #5: I would like to have confirmation that bidders can be individual consultants as per 

section   2.2.- Both individual consultants and firms are eligible; and not only firm as stated on 

the cover page of the RFP - Subject:  Request for Application for Firm 
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Answer #5:  Individual consultants can apply.  

Question #6: Could Counterpart please share the project’s Baseline Report with bidders to 

facilitate alignment in proposed design for the mid-term evaluation? 

Answer #6: Yes, please see Answer #2.  

Question #7: Related, could Counterpart kindly clarify which tools already exist from baseline 

that are appropriate for use in the mid-term evaluation? Given the contract timeline, it will be 

important for bidders to know if any new tools need to be developed and piloted prior to 

operational data collection. 

Answer #7: The interview guide for data collectors along with three questionnaires (teachers, 

directors, and students) are available and may be used in the mid-term evaluation. However, they 

will need to be revised to address additional questions and to integrate gaps from the baseline 

evaluation.  

Question #8: Could Counterpart please provide a list of the types of monitoring data the 

evaluator will have access to and/or which indicators listed in the RFP will be measured based on 

extant monitoring data? 

Answer #8: Counterpart currently has existing monitoring data (list of students enrolled in target 

schools, school meal records, training attendance records, training reports, semi-annual reports, 

etc..) to which the evaluator will have access. Most indicators will not need primary data 

collection.  

Question #9: Page 19 of the RFP states, “The midterm performance evaluation will have both a 

quantitative and qualitative focus, while also collecting limited data from a comparison group 

that was included in the baseline evaluation.” Could Counterpart specify what is meant by 

“limited data” in this case? 

Answer #9: Please see the “Design Overview” section of the RFP (page 19) outlining data 

collection in comparison schools for the literacy component. 

Question #10: Page 19 of the RFP states that one of two methods that will be used to assess 

beneficiaries’ literacy outcomes is, “A longitudinal study that will compare student performance 

at the baseline and the midterm for the same cluster (students in project schools). This 

methodology measures the improvement (change) over time of beneficiaries at a later point in 

time compared to the initial state before the start of this project.” Could Counterpart provide 

more details on what tracking mechanisms are in place for the evaluator to be able to locate 

sampled beneficiaries from baseline? 

Answer #10: The evaluator will look at cohorts (i.e. 4th, 5th, and 6th grade) for the ASER test, and 

not at individual beneficiaries from the baseline.  
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Question #11: Could Counterpart provide a budget ceiling for the mid-term evaluation? This 

will be helpful in determining a feasible design and ensuring the requirement of visiting all 270 

treatment schools is doable. 

Answer #11: Counterpart has a budget ceiling of $175,000, to be negotiated. Cost effectiveness 

is an evaluation criterion. Please see question #1 on the revised school sample size. 

Question #12: Page 21 of the RFP states that the project’s interventions focus on Grades 4 and 

5. Could Counterpart kindly explain how this project design is envisioned to respond to the 

MGD standard indicator, “Percent of students who, by the end of two grades of primary 

schooling, demonstrate that they can read and understand the meaning of grade level text”?  

Answer #12: The project’s in-school literacy interventions focus on Grades 4 and 5. The project 

also has additional literacy interventions focusing on grades 4, 5 and 6 outside of the classroom.  

Counterpart’s literacy interventions do not target grades 1, 2, and 3 (early grade reading). Please 

see below text from baseline survey for how the baseline evaluation team managed the design. 

“The ASER reading test that the research team administered produced the baseline measurement 

for determining if Sukaabe Janngo improved literacy of school aged children at the time of mid-

term, final, and impact evaluations. This section provides ASER results in two ways: average 

reading level by grade for treatment and comparison schools, and the distribution of scores 

among five reading levels by grade. 

MGD SO1 seeks to measure an increase in the “percent of students who, by the end of two 

grades of primary schooling, demonstrate that they can read and understand the meaning of 

grade level text.” The baseline research team suggest that Sukaabe Janngo’s target should be 

that all students in grades 4, 5, and 6 read at ASER level 5, meaning that students can read text 

at grade 2 level. Table 6 shows average reading levels for students in grades CE2 (4th), 

CM1(5th), and CM2(6th) in treatment and comparison groups as measured by the baseline 

study. There are five levels that a student could demonstrate: 1) cannot recognize letters; 2) can 

recognize letters but cannot read words; 3) can read words but cannot read sentences; 4) Can 

read text at grade 1 level but not higher; and 5) can read text at grade 2 level.” 

Question #13: Is there flexibility in regard to team structure and the roles bidders include on the 

proposed team (i.e can bidders include additional roles)? 

Answer #13: Yes, the bidders have flexibility to team structure and can add additional roles.  

Question #14: Does Counterpart International want the midterm evaluation to replicate the 

baseline evaluation in terms of sampling approach and design? If not, can Counterpart clarify 

why the sampling approach should be changed?  

Answer #14: No. Evaluator is expected to propose a sampling approach and design. 
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Question #15: Can the data collection tools from the baseline be used for the midterm with 

adjustments as needed? 

Answer #15:  Please see response to question #7. 

Question #16: How did COVID-19 impact the delivery of the MGD-FFE program over the past 

year? What adjustments were made to program delivery? 

Answer #16: In collaboration with USDA and Government of Senegal authorities, CPI-Senegal 

quickly pivoted to draft and institute a contingency plan that allowed project activities to 

continue, while adhering to safety protocols, ensuring the health and welfare of all project 

stakeholders.  

Question #17: Given the timeline in the RFP (data collection completed before Ramadan) and 

the deadline for proposals at the end of February, we were wondering if Counterpart would 

consider adjusting the workplan to have data collection after Ramadan before the school year 

ends. We are concerned there will not be sufficient time to develop or finalize the data collection 

tools and prepare for data collection (including training of the field staff) if data collection is 

expected to start at the end of March. Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to peak 

at the end of March/early April (https://www.covidsim.org/v3.20210106/?place=sn) and we are 

concerned this will impact the ability to undertake in-person data collection. Shifting data 

collection to after Ramadan would allow the selected team to adjust the tools and prepare for 

data collection with sufficient time and lessen the likelihood of needing to collect data during a 

possible country lockdown due to COVID-19 which would put our team and the respondents at 

risk. Would Counterpart be considered to changing the workplan as suggested, with data 

collection after Ramadan? 

Answer #17: No, Counterpart will not consider postponing the data collection to after Ramadan. 

Question #18: The RFP states that “Counterpart in Senegal will coordinate with the 

consultant/firm to provide transportation of the evaluation team from Dakar to Saint-Louis. All 

other costs associated with logistics should be included in the evaluator’s budget.” To confirm, 

does that mean the entire evaluation team including enumerators and data collectors, or just the 

international team members/senior staff? Will Counterpart provide transportation back from 

Saint-Louise to Dakar? 

Answer #18: Counterpart will provide transportation from Dakar to Saint-Louis for the 

international team members/senior staff to help them launch the evaluation. 

Question #19: Should the technical and financial proposals be submitted in separate emails? 

Answer #19:  Bidders should submit one email inclusive of both technical and financial 

proposals.  



                                                                      

7 
 

Question #20: Can Counterpart provide bidders with the budget available for the midterm 

evaluation?  

Answer #20: See answer to question #11.  

Question #21: Can bidders include a payment schedule for the contract that includes more 

payments the inception period and prior to data collection? Due to COVID-19, many local 

partners are requiring more payment upfront prior to beginning data collection as they have 

additional costs while trying to comply with COVID-19 restrictions and policies (i.e. more 

accommodations/transportation, PPE, etc.). 

Answer #21: Yes, the bidder can include a payment schedule for the contract. However, the final 

payment schedule with selected bidder is subject to review and approval.  

Question #22: How many students participated in SAVE’s extracurricular activities? 

Answer #22: Approximately 14662. 

Question #23: Can the bidder propose an alternative sampling plan? 

Answer #23: Yes, the bidder can propose an alternative sampling plan, subject to review and 

approval. 

Question #24: How many local government offices are there that would be eligible for 

evaluation interviews? 

Answer #24: There is a pool of approximately 50 government offices that would be eligible for 

interviews. 

Question #25: Could Counterpart share the calculation that was used to arrive at the 2,141-

student sample size? 

Answer #25: The sample size represents 5% of the primary school beneficiaries, as stated in the 

RFP. 

Question #26: The RFP provides a list of stakeholder groups that must be surveyed. What types 

of people or organizations are included in the “district and regional actors” category? 

Answer #26: District and regional actors include Médecin Chef de District, Médecin chef de 

Région, Inspection d’Académie, Inspection de l’Education et de la Formation, Brigade 

Régionale d’Hygiène , Agence Régionale de la Petite Enfance et de la Case des Tout-Petits 

(ARPECTP), etc. 

Question #27: Section 8 of the RFP says that the first draft of the report is due on April 30th, but 

the table following section 8 says the first draft is due May 7th. Which is correct?  

Answer #27: Please see the revised calendar in question #1. 
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Question #28: Does Counterpart has a template for the technical and financial proposal? If so, 

how can it be accessed? 

Answer #28: No, Counterpart does not have a template for the technical and financial proposal.  

Question #29: With regards to the Research questions, the RFP lists 36 illustrative research 

questions that will be answered cumulatively by the midterm, final, and impact evaluation. Have 

the questions that will need to be answered by this midterm been identified? If yes, which ones 

are they? Should the bidder select and include questions from this list in its proposals? Can the 

bidder also offer new questions? 

Answer #29: The questions listed in the RFP are the questions that Counterpart has identified. 

Please also refer to the baseline evaluation report. Questions can be modified or added subject to 

review and approval.  

Question #30:  May we ask why take-home rations are reserved for boys only in this program?   

Answer #30: There are more boys than girls in our schools. Boys in elementary schools have a 

higher drop rate than girls in the St. Louis region.  

Question #31: Regarding Answer #16: In collaboration with USDA and Government of Senegal 

authorities, CPI-Senegal quickly pivoted to draft and institute a contingency plan that allowed 

project activities to continue, while adhering to safety protocols, ensuring the health and welfare 

of all project stakeholders. Is it possible to have the details of this plan? Has it been implemented 

and is it still being carried out? How has this changed the activities and in what ways? 

Answer #31: The contingency plan will be provided to the selected bidder.  

Question #32:  If the only firm dates are the April 13/14 for data collection, Field Work: data 

collection March 25 to April 13/14-- Does it mean that there is flexibility for the time to process 

the survey data, perform qualitative and quantitative analysis and report writing?   

Answer #32:  Counterpart may be flexible with the time to process the data, do the analysis and 

report writing. However, we are aiming to have the final report (approved by Counterpart) before 

the end of May 2021. 

Question #33: Does Field Work consist of both the survey and the Qualitative Interviews in this 

deadline? Can the Qualitative proceed beyond April 14?   

Answer #33: Survey and qualitative interviews should be done concurrently. With the schools 

being geographically spread out, it is not advisable to separately conduct surveys and qualitative 

interviews. Qualitative interviews conducted outside of school communities (DCAS, MEN) 

should also be conducted before April 14th.  

Question #34: When does the final report need to be submitted? As per Table in Q#1 

Submission of final report, datasets, and tools May 24, 2021 or as noted in Q#4 Submission of 

final report, datasets, and tools June 11, 2021? 
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Answer #34:  Please refer to answer in Q#1.  

Question #35:   Is this the FINAL REPORT reviewed already by Counterpart and the 

stakeholders or Is this the first draft? 

Answer #35: The final report must have been reviewed by Counterpart and USDA. It is not the 

first draft. 

Question #36: The Table in Q#1 allows only 2 1/2 weeks for the analysis and report writing. 

Furthermore, 1 week after the data collection (April 19), the team is to present Preliminary 

findings. Is there flexibility around these dates? 

Answer #36:  Yes, we can allow for some flexibility. Please refer to answer to question Q#32. 

Question #37:  The RFP notes that the sample size for these is TBD.  Is it compulsory to survey 

the Comparison Schools for this Performance Evaluation since the Control Group is meant for 

the Impact Evaluation? 

Answer #37: Yes, it is compulsory to survey a small sample of comparison schools so we can 

have data for the final evaluation, based on Counterpart’s current assumptions about the 

methodology. 

Question 38: Can the bidder suggest a list of Evaluation Questions and an approach that will not 

necessitate data for the comparison schools at Mid-term?   

Answer #38:  Yes, the bidder can propose a new set of assumptions for the methodology and an 

approach that would not require comparison data, subject to review and approval by Counterpart. 

Question #39: How many non-beneficiary schools are there in the targeted region? 

Answer #39:  Based on data from 2018, there were 185 preschools and 786 elementary schools 

in total in the St. Louis region. Counterpart is in 270 schools currently. 

Question #40: In addition to the Dakar-Saint Louis transportation, will Counterpart help 

organize meetings for focus groups and other entities? 

Answer #40: Yes, we will help, to the extent possible, in communicating with the communities. 

Question #41: - Is it necessary to translate into English all data collection tools to be used 

including questionnaires? 

Answer #41: No. However, the final report and all annexes must be in English.  

Question #42: On page 17 of the RFP regarding the MGD Outcome indicators that require 

Midterms Values, Activity 5 is missing. Is it an error in numbering or not? 

Answer #42: Yes, it is an omission. Activity 5 is “Training in Commodity Management”. 



                                                                      

10 
 

Question #43:  The TOR lists outcomes from the Results Framework (p. 9-11), evaluation 

questions (p. 12-13), research questions (p. 13-15), and MGD outcome indicators that require 

midterm values (p. 15-18).  Would it be possible to identify which indicators/outcomes are 

priorities for measurement and analysis during the midline, and which are expected to be 

measured using secondary data (i.e. monitoring data or other sources).  This will help us 

assemble a list of tools that are needed to ensure every indicator is covered adequately. 

Answer #43: There are 8 priority outcome indicators (8/31 total indicators) for measurement and 

analysis: 

• Percent of students who, by the end of two grades of primary schooling, demonstrate that 

they can read and understand the meaning of grade level text (modified as in the baseline 

- see Q#12) 

• Average student attendance rate in USDA supported classrooms/schools.  

• Number of teachers/educators/teaching assistants in target schools who demonstrate use 

of new and quality teaching techniques or tools as a result of USDA assistance.  

• Number of school administrators and officials in target schools who demonstrate use of 

new techniques or tools as a result of USDA assistance.  

• Number of students enrolled in school receiving USDA assistance.  

• Number of individuals who demonstrate use of new child health and nutrition practices as 

a result of USDA assistance.  

• Number of individuals who demonstrate use of new safe food preparation and storage 

practices as a result of USDA assistance.  

• Percent of participants of community-level nutrition interventions who practice promoted 

infant and young child feeding behaviors (household level with pregnant women). 

 

The remaining indicators are for 2 outcomes and 21 outputs, the data for which is available with 

Counterpart.   

Question #44:  The TOR describes several different samples, sample strata, or sample groups: a 

sample of students for the longitudinal (method 1) analysis, a sample for the cross-sectional 

(method 2) analysis, a sample with and a sample without extracurricular reading activities.  Are 

separate longitudinal (Method 1) and cross-sectional (Method 2) samples required? If so, are 

there specific sample size requirements for the longitudinal and cross-sectional samples? Or is 

the requirement just that both samples, separately, meet the 5% margin of error requirement?  

Answer #44: No, we do not require separate samples. The same sample for the longitudinal 

analysis can be used for the cross-sectional analysis (which will also require a comparison school 

sample). There is no specific size requirement. 

Question #45:  For the sample of students with and without extracurricular reading activities, 

should these students be identified "naturally" through the survey (in short, we will survey an 

unknown number of students with and an unknown number without such activities), or should 
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the students be identified in advance or otherwise sampled in a way that guarantees a specific 

breakdown of respondents in each group (i.e. stratified sampling)? 

Answer #45: We plan to have student attendance lists from which specific students will be 

identified for the student sample in our project schools, and in order to have a robust sample of 

students who are involved in extracurricular activities, we will have a stratified sampling.  

Question #46:  How many program and comparison schools are included within the sample 

frame? 

Answer #46: Please see answer to Q#1 for project schools, and we are flexible in the number of 

comparison schools, but we suggest a minimum of 20 schools. Bidder can propose a statistically 

reliable number.  

Question #47:  Does the sample size of 2,141 include both program and comparison schools? 

Answer #47: No, this is for students from project schools only. The bidder can propose the 

number of students from comparison schools, but 8 students per a sample of 20 comparison 

schools equals 160 students.   

 

 


